# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



APR 23 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JUDY SHAPIRO,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: 64,439

(1083C18)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW PURSUANT TO ARTICLE XI OF THE INTEGRATION RULE OF THE FLORIDA BAR FROM THE REFEREE'S REPORT IN BAR DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS

HONORABLE ROBERT C. SCOTT, CIRCUIT JUDGE, REFEREE

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

EDWARD R. SHOHAT, ESQUIRE

BIERMAN, SONNETT, BEILEY, SHOHAT & SALE, P.A. Suite 500 200 S.E. First Street Miami, Florida 33131

Private Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, JUDITH DALE SHAPIRO, was the Respondent in Bar disciplinary proceedings below. Respondent, The Florida Bar, was the Petitioner in the proceedings below. In this brief the parties are referred to as they appear in this Court and by their proper names.

The record on the Petition consists of the Report and record filed by the Referee pursuant to Rule 11.09(3)(b), Article XI of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. An affidavit by the Petitioner is contained in Appendix 1 to this brief.

Appendix 2 consists of the Report of the Referee which will be referred to by proper name and page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about October 25, 1983, The Florida Bar filed a formal complaint against the Petitioner alleging violations of Article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(a) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar bearing case number 1083Cl8. On November 4, 1983, the Honorable James E. Alderman, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Florida designated Robert C. Scott, a judge of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, as referee for the Court in this cause. This cause came on for hearing before the Referee on February 3, 1984 at which time the parties presented a Joint Stipulation of Facts by which a proposed resolution of this case was presented to the Referee. On February 20, 1984, the Referee entered his Report recommending adoption in full of the Joint Stipulation of Facts and, in Part IV of the Report, recommending adoption of the disciplinary disposition agreed to by the parties with the addition of two special conditions of probation one of which is the subject matter of this Petition for Review. March 20, 1984, this Court granted a thirty day extension in which to file this brief.

Petitioner adopts in full the Statement of Facts as contained in the Joint Stipulation of Facts contained in Appendix 2 to this brief and part of the record on review. In Part II of his Report, the Referee adopted the Joint Stipulation of Facts between the parties in full and, in Part III recommended that the Petitioner be found guilty of those disciplinary

violations covered by the Stipulation. In Part IV of his Report, the Referee recommended the adoption of the disciplinary disposition agreed to between the parties with the addition of two special conditions of probation:

- 1. Respondent will confine her professional undertakings to civil, as opposed to criminal, matters.
- 2. Respondent participate in the guardian ad litem program of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit and expend 250 hours, in the two year period of probation, as an attorney guardian ad litem for an abused, neglected or otherwise dependant child.

This Petition for Review and brief contests the second of the proposed special conditions of probation. 1

In her Petition for Review, Petitioner contested both special conditions of probation. However, she has now determined to forego her complaint about the first special condition of probation for the reasons stated in her affidavit (Appendix 1).

# STATEMENT OF ISSUE

WHETHER THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA WILL ACCEPT A JOINT STIPULATION OF FACTS BETWEEN THE PETITIONER AND RESPONDENT IN BAR DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS AND DELETE A SINGLE SPECIAL CONDITION OF PROBATION RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner, JUDY SHAPIRO, respectfully contends that the agreement between herself and The Florida Bar includes no special condition of probation. Petitioner further contends that the agreement, calling for a ninety (90) day suspension followed by a two-year period of probation is consistent with other similar Bar disciplinary cases and is also consistent with the Court's duty to weigh personal factors as they effect the Petitioner and at the same time to discharge its responsibility to protect the public and generate confidence in the integrity of the legal profession. Furthermore, the Referee was specifically advised of Petitioner's intention not to practice law for the foreseeable future and, therefore, there was no basis for the recommended special condition of probation requiring Petitioner's participation in the quardian ad litem program during the period of her probation. The special condition of probation is, therefore, unjustified. Finally, Petitioner contends that she is entitled to specific enforcement of her agreement with The Florida Bar.

#### ARGUMENT

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SHOULD ACCEPT THE JOINT STIPULATION OF FACTS BETWEEN THE PETITIONER AND RESPONDENT IN BAR DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS AND DELETE A SINGLE SPECIAL CONDITION OF PROBATION RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

Frankly, the issue raised herein seems a little strange to have to litigate. However, due to practical considerations it will be virtually impossible for Petitioner to complete the 250 hours in the guardian ad litem program recommended by the Referee. Petitioner asks only that this special condition of probation be deleted and that the Court otherwise adopt the Referee's Report in full. Petitioner is also willing to pay appropriate costs connected with these proceedings.

In Bar disciplinary proceedings it is the duty of the Court to weigh personal factors as they effect the attorney involved and in so doing also to discharge its impersonal responsibility to protect the public and to generate confidence in the integrity of the legal profession. The Florida Bar v.

Blalock, 325 So.2d 401, 404 (Fla. 1976). Since the Petitioner did not agree to any special conditions of probation, to impose them would fly directly in the face of the terms of the agreement by which this matter was resolved. Combined with the fact that Petitioner does not plan to practice law for the foreseeable future, a fact which was brought to the attention of the Referee, the special condition of probation is unjustified by the facts.

Moreover, a comparison of the discipline imposed in

this case with the discipline imposed in other similar cases, The Florida Bar v. Breed, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), reveals that the agreed to discipline (90 days suspension and two years probation) is at the upper end of the disciplinary scale even without the special conditions of probation. See <a href="equation-eq

Finally, while Bar disciplinary proceedings are not criminal in character, they are penal in character, The Florida Bar v. Quick, 279 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1973), and, as such, an analogy can be made to plea agreements in criminal cases as to which the parties are entitled to specific enforcement. Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495 (1971). Since it is clear that the Petitioner has relied heavily on the stipulated disposition and, in fact, changed her position and left the practice of law partly as a result of the contemplated disposition of this matter, (Appendix 1), she is, by analogy to the criminal law, entitled to specific enforcement of her agreement.

## CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing cases and authorities, the Petitioner requests that this Court accept in full the report of the Referee filed in this cause with the exception of that portion of Part IV of the report requiring as a special condition that the Respondent participate in the guardian ad litem program.