# FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 18 1984

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JUDY DALE SHAPIRO,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 64,439

v.

(1083C18)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Respondent.

### RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

John F. Harkness, Jr., Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

John T. Berry, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

and

David G. McGunegle, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 102 Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 425-5424

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Bar accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts. She was the respondent before the referee and will be so addressed in this brief.

## POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SHOULD ADOPT THE REFEREE'S REPORT ACCEPTING THE JOINT STIPULATION OF FACTS INCLUDING BOTH CONDITIONS OF PROBATION AS FURTHER RECOM-MENDED BY THE REFEREE.

#### ARGUMENT

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SHOULD ADOPT THE REFEREE'S REPORT ACCEPTING THE JOINT STIPULATION OF FACTS INCLUDING BOTH CONDITIONS OF PROBATION AS FURTHER RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

This case was presented to the referee based on a joint stipulation of facts on November 4, 1983. Included in the conditional disposition was an agreement for two years' probation following ninety days' suspension with automatic reinstatement and payment of costs. No particular conditions had been attached or agreed to for that period of probation. Respondent previously had agreed to sever all links to her former law firm which had been done at the time of the referee hearing and thus was no longer a consideration. In rendering his report which adopted the joint stipulation, the referee set out two conditions of probation:

- Respondent will confine her professional undertakings to civil, as opposed to criminal, matters.
- 2. Respondent will participate in the guardian ad litem program of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit and expend 250 hours, in the two year period of probation, as attorney guardian ad litem for an abused, neglected or otherwise dependent child.

(Referee Report, p. 2). Respondent objects to performing the latter condition stating primarily that she is leaving the practice of law for work in the real estate

field and out-of-town travel requirements could render her incapable of completing the requirements within the two year period. (See Appendix 1 to the initial brief.)

Probation as part of the disposition of a Bar disciplinary case is not uncommon. Sometimes it forms part of a conditional guilty plea and sometimes it is imposed by this Court as recommended by a referee. The primary issue is not whether the referee can alter the terms of an agreement regarding probation; rather it is whether he can inject terms of probation where none have otherwise been provided. The Bar submits that the referee has that inherent power subject to review and ratification by this Court. For example, in The Florida Bar v. Stillman, 401 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1981) a referee considered evidence outside the scope of the Bar's complaint in making his findings and recommendations. The Court considered it proper since it was relevant to that individual's fitness to practice law and thus to the discipline. The real question here is whether the term of probation objected to by the respondent renders the discipline inappropriate given the joint stipulation of facts. The Bar submits it

does not and that the participation in the guardian ad litem program should be included as part of this Court's disposition. The referee's findings of fact are accorded the same weight as a civil trier of fact and should not be disturbed unless clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence. See <a href="https://docs.org/pictors.org/p

The guardian ad litem service requirement should not be struck by this Court as part of the disposition of this case absent a conclusion that it undermines the three purposes of discipline most recently reiterated in The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983). One, judgment must be fair to society protecting it from unethical conduct and not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of an unduly harsh penalty. Two, it must be fair to the respondent, both sufficient to punish the breach of ethics and to encourage

reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone to become involved in like violations. Respondent's actions in filing the sworn motion to dismiss as fully set forth in the joint stipulation of facts clearly warrant the stipulated ninety day suspension and as further recommended by the referee the two conditions of probation to be fulfilled during the two year probationary period. Refraining from practicing any criminal law, which she accepts, as well as participation in the guardian ad litem program will most clearly enhance items one and two of the purposes of discipline stated above.

In conclusion, The Florida Bar submits that the referee has made valid and proper recommendations to fill in an otherwise unconditional period of probation with conditions to further serve the purposes of discipline. The Bar believes it is within the inherent powers of the referee to make the recommendations and it would be entirely appropriate for this Court in disposing of this case to include both conditions of probation as part of the disciplinary order. Obviously, if the respondent

could not complete the recommended number of hours within the two year period of probation due to her occupational plans and requirements, the period could be extended until it was completed.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Court will approve the referee's recommended discipline as agreed to by The Florida Bar and the respondent of a ninety day suspension with automatic reinstatement, payment of costs and two years' probation and further include both conditions of probation as recommended by the referee.